### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-WC-01641

# INTERNATIONAL STAFF MANAGEMENT EMPLOYER/APPELLANT

**AND** 

## LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY CARRIER/APPELLANT

VS.

### TAKISHA STEPHENSON CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

Appeal From The Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS** 

# **Oral Argument Requested**

F. Hall Bailey
WATKINS LUDLAM, WINTER &
STENNIS, P.A.
633 North State Street
P. O. Box 427
Jackson, MS 39205-0427
(601) 949-4900

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS INTERNATIONAL STAFF MANAGEMENT, AND LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-WC-01641

INTERNATIONAL STAFF MANAGEMENT

**APPELLANT** 

AND

LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the Full Commission err in finding that Takisha Stephenson was injured in the course and scope of her employment with ISM?
- 2. Did the Full Commission err in finding that Takisha Stephenson was permanently and totally disabled and suffered a loss of wage earning capacity as a result of her gunshot injury?

### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Timeline as to Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Commission Below

June 28, 2000 Claimant, Takisha Stephenson, ("Stephenson" or "Claimant") was shot by Reginald Davis, a former co-worker, while at the One Source plant facility where she worked in Olive Branch,

Mississippi.

August 8, 2000 Stephenson filed the Petition to Controvert alleging that she had a suffered a work related injury when shot on June 28, 2000 and as a

result was permanently, totally disabled.

September 5, 2000 International Staff Management ("ISM"), a personnel outsourcing

company that technically employed Stephenson, and its workers' compensation carrier (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Appellant ISM" or "ISM") filed an Answer, admitting that the incident occurred, but denying the injuries were work related and further denying that Stephenson was permanently disability as a result of the incident or that she suffered a loss of wage earning

capacity as a result of her injury.

November 27, 2000 Stephenson was released to return to work by Dr. John Brophy, a

neurosurgeon who was Stephenson's treating physician for her

gunshot injuries.

April 3, 2002 Administrative Judge entered an Order finding that the

Stephenson's injuries suffered when shot by Reginald Davis on June 28, 2000 were suffered in the course and scope of her employment. As part of the Order, the Administrative Judge ordered that Stephenson be paid temporary total disability benefits beginning November 27, 2000 and ending on November 27, 2000. Moreover, the Administrative Judge ordered that Stephenson undergo an Independent Medical Examination by Dr. Keith Adkins, a clinical neuropsychologist with Semmes-Murphy

Neurologic & Spine Institute in Memphis, Tennessee.

September 17, 2002 Full Commission entered an Order affirming the Administrative

Judge's decision finding that the shooting incident involving

Stephenson was work related.

June, 2002 Stephenson underwent an IME with Dr. Keith Adkins as ordered

by the Administrative Judge.

January, 2003 Stephenson underwent an examination by Dr. Nan Hawkes, a

neuropsychologist, to whom Stephenson was referred by her

attorney.

March 31, 2006 Administrative Judge entered Order consistent with the testimony

of Dr. Keith Adkins and Dr. John Brophy, which concluded that

Stephenson had reached maximum medical improvement on

	November 27, 2000 and suffered no permanent impairment or loss of wage earning capacity as a result of her work injury.
April 18, 2007	Full Commission reversed the Order of Administrative Judge, finding that Stephenson was permanently totally disabled as a result of the work injury.
May 18, 2007	Appellant ISM filed a Motion to Reconsider.
July 24, 2007	Full Commission entered an Order denying Motion to Reconsider.
August 21, 2007	Appellant ISM filed a timely appeal to Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi
August 26, 2008	Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi affirmed Full Commission Order

September 25, 2008 Appellant ISM filed timely appeal to this Court

### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The April 3, 2002 Order of the Administrative Judge, summarily affirmed by the Full Commission, erred in finding that Stephenson suffered a compensable work related injury since the overwhelming weight of the evidence clearly established that the third party assault by a non-employee was motivated and precipitated by non-employment issues. Moreover, even if the Full Commission was correct in its finding that Stephenson's injury was work related, the Full Commission erred when it reversed the March 31, 2006 Order of the Administrative Judge and found Stephenson to be permanently totally disabled as a result of the injury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The Full Commission also erred with its decision by ignoring the fact that Stephenson did not meet her burden of proving a loss of wage earning capacity, which is essential to an award of permanent disability benefits, when she failed to offer proof of a reasonable effort to find other employment. Accordingly, the award of the Full Commission is contrary to the law and not supported by substantial evidence.

#### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellant ISM recognizes that under the familiar standard of review, this Court is bound by the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission so long as the Commission's findings of fact and order are supported by substantial evidence and do not contain an error of law. *Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co.*, 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988). That is not the case here.

Moreover, under the flip side of that substantial evidence standard, a court will reverse the Commission's order "if it finds that order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Hardaway Co. v. Bradley*, 887 So. 2d 793, 795 (Miss. 2004). As the Mississippi Supreme Court has noted

A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is some slight evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of the Act. Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc. 853 So. 2d 776, 780 (Miss. 2003) (citations omitted)

Hardaway Co. v. Bradley, 887 So. 2d 793, 795 (Miss. 2004).

### IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

# A. STEPHENSON'S INJURIES FROM SHOOTING INCIDENT WERE NOT INCURRED WITHIN COURSE AND SCOPE OF EMPLOYMENT WITH ISM

#### 1. Introduction

Appellant ISM appeals the Order entered April 3, 2002, by the Administrative Judge, finding that the Claimant suffered a compensable work-related injury. (V.2, p.108).' The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Reference is either to page within the 7 volume portion of record containing pleadings and hearing transcripts (V. \_\_, p.\_\_), or to page within 3 volume Exhibit portion of the record containing various exhibits and deposition transcripts offered into evidence during the hearing (Ex.Vol. , Ex. , p. ).

Appellant ISM asserts that the Administrative Judge erred in finding that the attack on Stephenson by Reginald Davis on June 28, 2000, was a work related and, therefore, compensable incident. The overwhelming weight of the evidence clearly establishes that the attack was motivated and precipitated by non-employment factors. The only evidence that there was any work-related connection to the attack was the Stephenson's own self-serving testimony. The Administrative Judge erroneously found that the injury was work-related.

# 2. Overview of relevant facts related to whether shooting injury was work related<sup>2</sup>

On June 28, 2000, Stephenson was employed by International Staff Management ("ISM") as a Quality Assurance technician at One Source, in Olive Branch, Mississippi. (V.2, p.110). After Stephenson clocked out from her shift and was preparing to leave, she was approached by Terry Crane. (V.2, p.112). Crane, who was *not* an employee of One Source, told Stephenson that she was wanted inside. (V.2, p.122). Stephenson followed Crane inside to the One Source office. Upon entering an office within the facility, Stephenson confronted Reginald Davis, who was armed with a handgun and was holding 6 or 7 of her co-workers hostage. Within moments after Stephenson entered the room, Davis began shooting at her. Stephenson was shot in the back of the head. Crane was hit in the shoulder while he attempted to push Stephenson out of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Appellant ISM's arguments concerning the compensability issue related to Stephenson's assault by a former co-employee and their subsequent arguments concerning the nature and extent of her injury involve two separate set of facts – one involving the details of the shooting and the other involving the medical testimony. In an effort to provide these facts in a manageable format, I will include two separate factual summaries within this brief – the first relating to question of whether injury was work related and the second related to the medical issues along with the nature and extent of permanent disability and loss of wage earning capacity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As a personnel outsourcing company, ISM technically employed the individuals who worked at the One Source facility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Crane had arrived at One Source to pick up his mother, Mildred Mack. Shortly after entering the facility in search of his mother, Crane was confronted by Reginald Davis, who was armed with a handgun. Davis forced Crane to join him, Crane's mother and about 6 or 7 of her co-workers in an office area at One Source. While holding the workers hostage, Davis sent Crane out of find Takisha Stephenson, who he acknowledged was the individual he wanted. V.2, p.122.

harm's way. Reginald Davis then turned the gun on himself and committed suicide. (V.2, p.126).

Given that Davis came to the One Source facility armed and looking for Takisha Stephenson, it should be no surprise that this was not the first interaction between two. Stephenson and Davis shared a tortured and tumultuous history. Stephenson began working at One Source in 1998, and in late 1999, Davis began working at One Source. (V.2, p.110). Davis often flirted with Stephenson on the job. (V.6, p.50). Davis even stole personal photographs of Stephenson. (V.6, p.50). Stephenson admitted that she thought Davis liked her "like a lover or mistress." (V.6, p.51). Stephenson admitted that Davis had a crush on her, and had had one for months. (V.2, p.114, V.6, p.51).

Davis was terminated from One Source on June 20, 2000 following a dispute with his supervisor, Mildred Mack, about Davis leaving his work station on the assembly line. (V.2, p.108). During the discussion between the two, Davis began cursing Mack. When Mack reported the incident to her supervisor, Shawn Mullulay, Davis interjected into the conversation and began cursing Mullulay as well. He was terminated at that time. Stephenson had no involvement in the altercation between Mack and Davis which led to his termination. (V.2, p.113). Following his termination, Davis approached Mullulay and asked if he could file a sexual harassment claim against Source One based upon fact that he and Stephenson had been having sexual relations for several months. Mullulay advised Davis that he had no sexual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Stephenson did not sign Davis's termination papers. (V.2, p.113). Stephenson did not report Davis's absence from the work station to Mildred Mack. (V.6, p.49). Stephenson never even spoke to Davis during the altercation which led to his termination. (V.6, p.49). There is no evidence of any involvement of the Stephenson in Davis's termination nor is there any evidence that Davis knew or might have known of any such involvement had there been any. (V.2, p.113; V.6, p.49). Davis never mentioned anything to anyone about those termination papers. (V.6, p.49).

harassment claim since Stephenson had nothing to do with his termination. Ex.Vol.2, Ex.6 [Mullulay Statement, Olive Branch P.D. Records].

On June 26, 2000, six days after Davis was terminated, Davis called Stephenson at the offices of One Source and, when she picked up the phone, threatened to kill her if she didn't call him back by 9 p.m. that evening. (V.2, p.109, 111; V.6, p.50; Ex.Vol.2, Ex.6 [June 26, 200 Offense Report, Olive Branch P.D. Records]). During this conversation, Davis did *not* mention anything to Stephenson about his termination. V.2, p.114; V.6, p.51. Later that same day, Stephenson and her husband swore out a complaint with the Olive Branch Municipal Court against Davis with regard to his threats to kill Stephenson. Stipulation, (V.2, p.109). Following up on that complaint that same day, Aubrey Broadway, a detective with the Olive Branch Police Department, telephoned Stephenson. During this conversation, Stephenson told Broadway that she wanted to talk to Davis before moving forward with the complaint. (V.2, p.129).

The drama continued the next day when Stephenson and her husband visited the Byhalia Police Department to complain about Davis who they alleged had been harassing Stephenson. (V.2, p.127). When Byhalia Police Officer Hughley went to a bus stop in Byhalia to confront Davis in regard to Stephenson's complaint, Davis stated he wanted to speak to Stephenson's husband. (V.2, p.128). Disregarding Hughley's orders that they not interfere, Stephenson and her husband followed Hughley to the bus stop. (V.2, p.132; V.6, p.70). When Officer Hughley instructed them to leave, a "verbal altercation" ensued between Stephenson and her husband and Davis. (V.2, p.132). During this altercation, Davis told Stephenson and her husband that he had provocative photographs of Stephenson and that he was going to kill her. (V.6, p.71-2).

On the morning of June 28, 2000, Davis confronted Stephenson's husband at Ables Daycare in Byhalia, Mississippi. Stipulation, (V.2, p.109). This confrontation began at a daycare

facility when Stephenson's husband saw Davis staring at him. (V.6, p.64). Davis told Stephenson's husband that he wanted to talk, but Stephenson's husband said, "I don't want to talk to you, you already threatened my wife's life." (V.6, p.64). Davis did not want to speak to Stephenson's husband about his working relationship with Stephenson. (V.6, p.73). During this conversation, Davis never mentioned his termination from One Source or anything else about One Source. (V.6, p.78). Davis wanted to speak with Stephenson's husband about personal matters. Namely, Davis told Stephenson's husband that he had a crush on Stephenson and that they were having an affair. (V.6, p.75). Upon witnessing this confrontation, a daycare employee became so concerned that the Byhalia Police were contacted. (V.2, p.114-5; V.6, p.65). Stephenson visited the daycare later that morning, then returned to work at approximately 11:30 a.m. (V.2, p.112).

Later that afternoon, Stephenson was shot by Davis, as noted above. Davis was also suspected in the murder of his landlord, Nanny Jean Crutchfield. (V.2, p.131). Lieutenant Cleatus Oliver, of the Olive Branch Police Department, investigated the Stephenson incident. (V.2, p.131). During his investigation, he spoke with Dwayne Pitts, a friend of Davis, and Aurelia Kimble, Davis' mother. (V.2, p.131). Both Pitts and Kimble stated that Davis claimed to be the father of a child Stephenson was carrying and that he had threatened to kill Stephenson if she aborted their child. (V.2, p.131). Kimble stated she had seen Davis and Stephenson together in her home, had spoken to Stephenson a number of times on the telephone, and had seen a picture of Stephenson in a revealing negligee in her son's apartment. (V.2, p.127, 130-1). Additionally, Shawn Mullulay, a supervisor at One Source, told Oliver that Davis had claimed to have had a romantic relationship with Stephenson. (V.2, p.127). Davis's sister also represented

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It is undisputed that Stephenson was early in her pregnancy at the time of the shooting. Ex.Vol.2, Ex.5 [Medical Records attached as Ex. 2 to Dr. Brophy deposition].

to Oliver that there was a romantic relationship between Stephenson and Davis. (V.2, p.131; Ex.Vol.3, Ex.9, p.15). Although Oliver asked Stephenson to make a statement about the incident to the police, she refused. (V.2, p.127; Ex.Vol.3, Ex.9, p.15). Detective Oliver, who had over ten years of law enforcement and investigative experience, who interviewed up to ten employees of One Source, concluded that personal motivations fueled this attack and that he "could not find any other possible motivation for Davis' behavior." (emphasis supplied) (V.2, p.131).

### 3. Overview of Applicable Law

Recovery under the Mississippi Workmen's Compensation Act requires a showing by the claimant that the injury sustained resulted from an accident "arising out of and in the course of employment." Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-7 (1972) provides in part: "Compensation shall be payable for disability or death of an employee from injury or occupational disease arising out of and in the course of employment. . . ."

The Mississippi Supreme Court has interpreted the "arising out of and in the course of" language as a two-pronged test. Under this approach, an injury arises out of employment when a causal connection exists between the injury and the employment. Earnest v. Interstate Life & Accident Ins. Co., 238 Miss. 648, 652, 119 So. 2d 782, 783 (1960); Brookhaven Steam Laundry v. Watts, 214 Miss. 569, 600, 55 So. 2d 381, 391 (1951). The additional requirement that the injury be in the course of employment is satisfied only when the injury occurs within the time and space limitations of the employment. Persons v. Stokes, 222 Miss. 479, 486, 76 So. 2d 517, 519 (1954). Although an assault is intentional by nature, Mississippi, like most other jurisdictions, has expressly included assaults under the statutory definition of accidents. Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-3(b) (Supp. 1981). The assault-related cases normally have been divided between assaults by co-employees and assaults committed by third parties. The distinction

arising from the statutory formula provides that assaults by third parties must be directed against an employee because of his employment in order for the assault to be compensable. Such proof is not required in the co-employee assault scenario. See Mutual Implement & Hardware Ins. Co. v. Pittman, 214 Miss. 823, 828, 59 So. 547, 551 (1952) (assault committed by co-employee requires no proof that assault occurred because of employment). In either case, if the injured employee is assaulted because of some personal reason that is wholly disconnected from the employment, the injury is not compensable. When the animosity that instigates the assault originates in the injured employee's private life, the injury does not arise out of the employment, See, e.g., Dewberry v. Carter, 218 So. 2d 27, 30 (Miss. 1969) (death benefits denied when decedent's death caused by personal dispute unrelated to employment); Ellis v. Rose Oil Co., 190 So. 2d 450, 450 (Miss. 1966) (same). See generally 1 A. Larson, supra note 7, § 11.21. Since an assault by a co-employee requires no proof that the attack was motivated because of the employment, the Mississippi Supreme Court has used various theories to compensate injuries caused by co-employee assaults. The additional burden of proving that an assault by a third party was directed toward the employee because of the employment has created a more difficult analysis.

The Mississippi Supreme Court's first encounter with a third party assault caused by personal animosity arose out of a factual scenario in which a delivery man was killed by the irate husband of a woman with whom he was having an affair. Brookhaven Steam Laundry v. Watts,

Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-3(b) (Supp. 1981) provides in part: "[I]njury' means accidental injury or accidental death arising out of and in the course of employment, and includes . . . an injury caused by the willful act of a third person directed against an employee because of his employment while so employed and working on the job. . ."

<sup>8</sup> As a delivery man, the employee was required to pick up and deliver laundry from various residences. He became involved in an affair with one of his customers. On the day of his death, the delivery man went to the residence of his lover to meet with her and, while there, was shot and killed by his lover's husband. *Id.* at 585, 55 So. 2d at 384. The court originally compensated the delivery man's death through an application of the positional-risk

214 Miss. 578, 55 So. 2d 381, rev'd on rehearing, 214 Miss. 626, 59 So. 2d 294 (1951). The court held that the mere fact that the employment brought the employee to the place he was injured was insufficient to establish a causal connection between the injury and employment when the assailant's animosity toward the employee was purely personal. *Id.* at 640, 59 So. 2d 302. The *Watts* Court succinctly stated the rule as follows:

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