IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-WC-01641

INTERNATIONAL STAFF MANAGEMENT EMPLOYER/APPELLANT

AND

LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY CARRIER/APPELLANT

VS

TAKISHA STEPHENSON CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Oral Argument Requested

Briggs Smith, SMITH, PHILLIPS, MITCHELL SCOTT & NOWAK, LLP 695 Shamrock Drive P.O. Drawer 1586 Batesville, MS 38606 (662)563-4613

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE TAKISHA STEPHENSON

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-WC-01641

INTERNATIONAL STAFF MANAGEMENT

APPELLANT

AND

LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANT

VS

TAKISHA STEPHENSON

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The claimant, Takisha Stephenson, was shot at work by a former employee who had been fired only eight days earlier. The bullet went through the back of her skull and lodged in the roof of her mouth. Miraculously and with excellent medical care by the neurosurgeon, Dr. Brophy, she survived. The employer/carrier will argue the shooting was a result of a totally 100% purely personal matter. Likewise, the employer/carrier will argue that Takisha does not have a total, permanent loss of wage earning capacity although employer/carrier has no neuropsychological evaluation to support this position.

Takisha's argument as to compensability centers around two topics. First, is compensability in fact an issue before this Court. The employer/carrier agreed at the hearing before Judge Wilson it was not an issue, and had been decided previously in favor or Takisha. Secondly, Takisha's argument will support the proposition that most, if not all of the cause for the shooting was job related, not personal. The employer/carrier cannot sustain its burden of totally excluding work related influences, since immediately after being fired, the shooter, Davis' actions turned hostel. The day he was fired, Takisha's car was keyed in the company parking lot. He addressed Takisha's husband claiming he and Takisha were having an affair. He made a threatening phone call to Takisha at work. There is testimony to reflect that Davis believed Takisha was involved in the firing process. Takisha had reported the keying of her car to her supervisor. When Davis took hostages in the company office, he included Mildred Mack, the supervisor who actually fired him. Were he only interested in shooting Takisha, he could have done so on several occasions during the eight days after he was fired and before the shooting. He did not do this. He waited until he could get Takisha and Mildred Mack together at the offices of the company. Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that a personal matter was the sole

and only cause of the shooting. The loss of his job was a major, if not the only precipitating factor that led to the shooting of Takisha Stephenson. The employer/carrier cannot meet its burden of excluding all relationships to the job environment.

The argument concerning permanent, total loss of wage earning capacity centers around Dr. Atkins and Dr. Hawkes, both neuropsychologists. Dr. Brophy, the neurosurgeon who saved Takisha's life, acknowledged from a neurological standpoint Takisha could return to work. He could not comment from a mental neuropsychological standpoint, and acknowledged he was not the proper person to do that. Dr. Atkins admitted his test results were not valid, claiming that Takisha failed to give full effort, however, he stepped aside to attack the testing procedures of Dr. Nan Hawkes who ran the necessary neuropsychological tests, found that they were valid and further found that Takisha had in fact a permanent, total loss of wage earning capacity. The credible evidence before the Court sustains a Full Commission decision, which should be affirmed by this Court. The claimant's argument is supported by the standard of review; substantial evidence, and doubts resolved in favor of compensability.

POINT I.

CLAIMANT, TAKISHA STEPHENSON, PROVED A COMPENSABLE
INJURY WHEN SHOT AT HER PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT,
EIGHT DAYS AFTER THE ASSAILANT/CO-EMPLOYEE WAS FIRED.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE SO FOUND AND THIS FINDING HAS BEEN
PROPERLY AFFIRMED ON EACH STEP OF THE APPELLATE PROCESS

A. Whether Takisha's injury is compensable is moot. That issue was decided without appeal and is not before the court.

On only one occasion was the compensability of the injury at issue; that was at the initial hearing before Administrative Judge Mark Henry on April 3, 2002. The administrative judge found for Takisha ordering that the injury was work related. Thereafter, the only issue addressed by the Workers' Compensation Commission on two appeals, the hearing examiner, Judge Cindy Wilson on remand, and the circuit court, was the extent of disability and whether Takisha was entitled to permanent total benefits. In all stages of the trial and appeal, compensability has remained in favor of Takisha. The Workers' Compensation Commission's order on the first appeal, the hearing examiner's order on remand, and the Workers' Compensation Commission's order on the second appeal, and most recently, the Circuit Court of Desoto County's order left the initial finding of compensability in tact. This was clearly proper, since a careful reading of the pleadings indicate that compensability was not an issue before Judge Cindy Wilson (Vol. 4 p. 345).

B. <u>Claimant, Takisha Stephenson, proved the assault was job related. The Full</u> Commission responded to this proof and returned a proper decision.

When viewing the testimony of the various workers, as well as Takisha, her husband, Terry Stephenson, and her immediate supervisor, Mildred Mack, there is substantial proof to relate the assault by a recently fired employee to the job. Likewise, the employer/carrier, IMS, failed to prove that the assault was solely, totally and completely a personal vendetta. The

employer/carrier having pled personal vendetta is under a duty to prove it to the exclusion of work related conditions that contributed to the injury. The Supreme Court has stated:

It is well settled that where a claimant's employment contributes to his condition, the injury is compensable. Sharpe v. Choctaw Electronic Enterprises, 767 So.2d 1002 (2000) at page 1005; Hedge v. Leggett & Platt, Inc., 641 So.2d 9, 14 (Miss. 1994) (citing Jenkins v. Ogletree Farm Supply, 291 So.2d 560, 563 (Miss. 1974)).

The employment need not be the sole source of the injury. The injury only need be partially work related. This arises from the Supreme Court's interpretation of Mississippi Code §71-3-7 (1972) wherein the Supreme Court stated in the case of *Sharpe v. Choctaw Electronics Enterprises*, 767 So.2d 1002 (2000) at page 1005, as follows:

The work connection test arises from Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-7 (1972). The workers' Employment, however, need not have been the sole source of the injury. The claim is compensable if the injury or death is in part work connected. Injury or death arises out of and in the course of employment even when the employment merely aggravates, accelerates or contributes to the injury.

The testimony reflects that there was no ill will between Reginald Davis, the ex-employee attacker and other members of the workforce at One Source, including Takisha, prior to his termination. The beginning point of this controversy starts the day he is fired. Several instances of his combative attitude was brought forward through various witnesses until the climax occurred in the office of the employer, IMS. This is easy to understand since he recently served twenty years in jail and was released only six months before he began work at One Source. Hostility obviously remained in his character flaws. He loses his job and seeks revenge. Several witnesses testified that the retaliation to both Mildread Mack and Takisha Stephenson was job related as a result of his recent termination. Case law requires that the workers' compensation provisions be literally construed in favor or benefits.

It is well established that the provisions of Mississippi's Workers' Compensation Statute are to be construed liberally in favor the claimant and in favor of paying benefits for a compensable injury. Sharpe v. Choctaw Electronic Enterprises, 767 So.d2d 1002 (2000) at page 1006; Emerson Elec. Co. v. McLarty, 487 So.2d 228, 230 (Miss. 1986) (collecting citations).

This is not a doubtful case for compensation purposes, but even if it were, doubtful cases are resolved in favor of compensation. *Miller Transporters, Inc., v. Guthrie*, 554 So.2d 917 (1986), *Sharpe v. Choctaw Electronic Enterprises*, 767 So.2d 1002 (2000). With this understanding of the law, the administrative judges, the Full Commission and the circuit court have properly applied the law to the facts of the case subjudice.

All administrative judges, the Workers' Compensation Commission on two occasions, and the Circuit Court found compensability. This has been true since the first hearing and findings of fact. Administrative Judge Henry, after weighing all the facts, found "that Mrs. Stephenson sustained a work-related injury on June 28, 2000, and is entitled to temporary total disability benefits of \$224.39 a week from that date until Dr. Brophy released her to return to work on November 27, 2000. In addition, the Employer/Carrier is obligated to pay for Mrs. Stephenson's medical treatment." (Vol. 2. P. 139). Judge Henry made no findings of fact relative to additional benefits such as temporary total benefits after that hearing, but requested additional medical information and a neuropsychological evaluation to assist in making the decision relative to permanent total benefits (Vol. 2 p. 136). After receiving additional medical testimony an order was entered finding Takisha Stephenson entitled to permanent total disability benefits and future medical. Judge Henry issued his findings of fact relative to compensability which has not been contested. All other court tribunals have accepted, adopted and affirmed the findings of fact

on compensability. After the first hearing, compensability was not an issue then, and is not an issue now.

In Judge Henry's order of April 3, 2002, (Vol. 2, p. 135), he finds that Mrs. Stephenson was actually working or at least on the work site when Mr. Davis assaulted her. She thought she had been summonsed to the manager's office.

Judge Henry, in reviewing the Mississippi law regarding "personal vendetta exception", acknowledged that where this doctrine has been applied "there has been no doubt that a love triangle existed and that the love triangle clearly motivated the non-employee to commit the tort against the employee. Dicta in *Brookhaven Steam Laundry* 214 Miss. 569, 626, 59 So.2d 294 (1952). In Judge Henry's order he places little credibility in Mr. Davis' statements that he had an affair with Takisha, since he was a convicted rapist and armed robber. This testimony is contradicted by Mrs. Stephenson's flat denial that she had a romantic relationship with Mr. Davis. None of the other employees at One Source stated that Mr. Davis and Mrs. Stephenson were romantically involved (Vol. 2 p. 137). Finally Judge Henry reasoned that at best, it is doubtful as to whether an affair existed, thus the well-known rule requires that doubtful cases be resolved in favor of the claimant (Vol. 2 p. 139).

The brief of employer/carrier to the Workers' Compensation Commission dated June 26, 2006, states that the March 31, 2006, order of Judge Cindy Wilson should be affirmed. That order found compensability. This brief addresses only the medical issues of total impairment, contrasting the deposition testimony of Dr. Hawkes and Dr. Atkins. Nowhere in the brief is the issue of compensable injury addressed by the employer/carrier.

There is only one brief by the parties on the issue of compensability after Judge Henry's order of April 3, 2002. That is the claimant's brief to the Full Commission dated July 22, 2002, and the employer/carrier's brief to the Full Commission.

While holding employees hostage, Davis said there were only two people he wanted:

Takisha Stephenson and Mildred Mack because he felt betrayed by both of them (Ex. Vol. 2 Ex. 3 p. 13) "I want Tisha because she f'd me. And I want you, Mildred . . . because you the one stuck the knife in my back". At no place in the record is it contended that Mildred Mack also had an affair with Davis, therefore, the only thing Mack and Stephenson had in common was that Davis thought he had been betrayed by them-meaning they had been part of the reason he was fired. (Ex. Vol. 2 Ex. 3 p. 13).

On the date of the shooting Davis said he wanted two people, Mildred Mack and Takisha Stephenson. Mildred Mack was involved in his termination. Had he wanted to kill Stephenson only, he could have shot Takisha at the bus station in Byhalia where he confronted her days prior to the assault.

The employer argues that Davis could have killed Mildred Mack earlier if he wanted to assault her while he had the others in the room (Appellant's brief p. 15). This is true, however, he wanted two people, Mildred Mack and Takisha because he thought both were involved in his firing.

It is a stretch to think that the day Davis got fired Takisha's car somehow happened to get keyed. The obvious conclusion is that Davis did it, mad because he had gotten fired and mad at Takisha because he thought she was involved. Appellant argues Davis and Stephenson were having an affair or a flirtatious relationship, and that Davis harassed, stalked and ultimately assaulted Stephenson for personal reasons unrelated to the employment. If so, why did these

actions occur only after he was fired? He never stalked, assaulted or harassed Takisha until after he was fired. It is more than coincidental that he began harassment the day he was fired. It is more than coincidental that her car was scratched or keyed the day he was fired. It is more than coincidental that he started harassing Takisha the day he was fired and eight days later killed her at work where he knew he could find Mildred Mack as well. Davis had other opportunities to kill Takisha between June 20 and June 28, but passed them by waiting until he could get Mildred Mack and Takisha together.

Under Kerr-McGee Corporation v. Hutto, 401 So.2d 1277 (Miss. 1981), a third person attack is compensable if claimant was responding to directions from her employer and was thus injured. In the case subjudice, Takisha was responding to her employer's direction as stated to her and known by her at the time she was shot. She was following the orders of her employer to come back to the office.

In fact, it is not necessary that the Kerr-McGee doctrine apply to the case subjudice, since the proof shows that Takisha was shot because she and Mildred Mack were blamed by Davis because Davis felt betrayed by them.

POINT II.

WHERE ONE NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL TEST WAS INSUFFICIENT, THE ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE AND FULL COMMISSION WAS JUSTIFIED IN RELYING ON THE COMPLETED PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATION OF DR. NAN HAWKES, FINDING TAKISHA STEPHENSON TO HAVE A TOTAL PERMANENT LOSS OF WAGE EARNING CAPACITY

A. The issue of total loss of wage earning capacity is addressed by two neuropsychologists, Dr. Keith Atkins who rendered an incomplete report, and Dr. Nan Hawkes who rendered a complete test result supporting total loss of wage earning capacity.

Takisha Stephenson, suffered a loss of wage earning capacity, as a result of the gunshot wound to the head which caused permanent brain damage. The claimant, Takisha Stephenson, contends she suffered a total loss of wage earning capacity, while the employer/carrier contends she suffered none.

Three medical experts testified. The first, Dr. John Brophy, neurosurgeon, who did repair work to save Takisha's life, testified from a neurosurgical standpoint. He testified that although claimant had permanent brain loss and damage, she was able to return to work. The second, Dr. Keith Atkins, was appointed by the Court to run an neuropsychological evaluation. Although his test results indicate a problem, he nevertheless discounted the results, stating that Takisha did not give full effort in taking the test. The third, Dr. Nan Hawkes provided a neuropsychological evaluation which indicated that Takisha had mental disorders as a result of the gunshot wound which left her with a total loss of wage earning capacity. Even though we have two sets of test results (Dr. Atkins and Dr. Hawkes) that indicate Takisha is mentally impaired, Dr. Atkins states that both his test results and Dr. Hawkes' test results are not reliable and should be disregarded. Dr. Hawkes testified that her test results are valid and Dr. Atkins' test results appear to be valid as well. The lay testimony indicates a change in Takisha's personality as well as her mental

function and ability, both to perform the type of work she was doing when she was shot, as well as her ability to perform routine daily activities. No neuropsychological evaluation indicates that Takisha is not mentally impaired.

Takisha has proven her case through the testimony of Dr. Hawkes, the lay witnesses, and her own testimony. The decision of the Full Commission should be affirmed and Takisha Stephenson should be found to suffer permanent, total loss of wage earning capacity. An order to that effect should be entered, and this case affirmed.

UNCONTESTED FACTS

The following are uncontradicted facts:

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